Supreme Court No. 90733-1 

Spokane County Superior Court No. 12-2-03766-8 
______________________________________________ 

 
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

______________________________________________ 
 
 
DONALD R. SWANK, individually and as personal representative of 
the ESTATE OF ANDREW F. SWANK, and PATRICIA A. SWANK, 

individually,  
 

Plaintiffs-Petitioners, 
 

vs. 
 

VALLEY CHRISTIAN SCHOOL, a Washington State non-profit 
corporation, JIM PURYEAR, individually, and TIMOTHY F. 

BURNS, M.D., individually, 
 

Defendants-Respondents. 
 

______________________________________________ 
 

PETITIONERS’ OPENING BRIEF 
______________________________________________

I. INTRODUCTION 

 Drew Swank died from a concussion sustained while playing 

in a high school football game. His coach and physician cleared him 

to play within a week after suffering a concussion in a previous 

game, and his coach failed to remove him from competition after he 

continued to exhibit signs of concussion. 

 Drew’s parents subsequently filed suit against the school 

(Valley Christian School or VCS), the coach (James Puryear) and 

the physician (Timothy F. Burns, M.D.), alleging negligence and 

violation of the Zackery Lystedt law, RCW 28A.600.190. In the text 

of the Lystedt law, the Legislature finds that: 

(a) Concussions are one of the most commonly reported 
injuries in children and adolescents who participate in sports 
and recreational activities. The centers for disease control 
and prevention estimates that as many as three million nine 
hundred thousand sports-related and recreation-related 
concussions occur in the United States each year. A 
concussion is caused by a blow or motion to the head or body 
that causes the brain to move rapidly inside the skull. The 
risk of catastrophic injuries or death are significant when a 
concussion or head injury is not properly evaluated and 
managed. 

(b) Concussions are a type of brain injury that can range 
from mild to severe and can disrupt the way the brain 
normally works. Concussions can occur in any organized or 
unorganized sport or recreational activity and can result 
from a fall or from players colliding with each other, the 
ground, or with obstacles. Concussions occur with or without 
loss of consciousness, but the vast majority occurs without 
loss of consciousness. 
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(c) Continuing to play with a concussion or symptoms of 
head injury leaves the young athlete especially vulnerable to 
greater injury and even death. The legislature recognizes 
that, despite having generally recognized return to play 
standards for concussion and head injury, some affected 
youth athletes are prematurely returned to play resulting in 
actual or potential physical injury or death to youth athletes 
in the state of Washington. 

RCW 28A.600.190(1) (formatting in original). In light of these 

findings, the Lystedt law requires young athletes who are suspected 

of sustaining a concussion to be removed from competition until 

properly evaluated and cleared to return to play, among other 

things. See RCW 28A.600.190(3) & (4).1 

The superior court dismissed all claims on summary 

judgment. From this decision, Drew’s parents, Donald and Patricia 

Swank, seek direct review in this Court.2 

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

 The superior court erred in dismissing the Swanks’ claims 

against VCS, Puryear and Burns on summary judgment. CP 1337-

41.  

  

                                                           
1 The full text of the Lystedt law, RCW 28A.600.190, is reproduced in the 
Appendix to this brief. 
2 A statement of grounds for direct review was previously filed herein. 
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III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

1. What obligations does the Lystedt law impose on schools, 
coaches and physicians? In particular:  

a. Do schools and coaches have an obligation to monitor 
student athletes for signs of concussion, to remove 
students showing signs of concussion from 
competition, and to gradually return student athletes 
to play after a concussion? 

b. Do physicians have a duty to evaluate student athletes 
before clearing them to return to play, and to clear 
them to return to play gradually rather than 
immediately? 

2. Does violation of the Lystedt law constitute evidence of 
negligence, or does it also give rise to an implied statutory 
cause of action, or both? And, in the case of a physician, does 
the medical negligence statute, Ch. 7.70 RCW, preempt an 
implied cause of action under the Lystedt law? 

3. Did the superior court properly dismiss the Swank’s lawsuit 
on summary judgment? In particular: 

a. Are there genuine issues of material fact regarding 
VCS’s, Puryear’s and Burns’ violations of their 
common law and statutory duties? 

b. Has Puryear met his burden to prove that there are no 
genuine issues of material fact for trial, and that he is 
entitled to judgment as a matter of law on his 
affirmative defense of volunteer immunity under 
RCW 4.24.670? 

c. Has Puryear met his burden to prove that there are no 
genuine issues of material fact for trial, and that he is 
entitled to judgment as a matter of law on his 
affirmative defense that a portion of the Swank’s 
claim is barred by the two-year statute of limitations 
for assault and battery, RCW 4.16.100(1)? 
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d. Has Burns met his burden to prove that there are no 
genuine issues of material fact and that he is entitled 
to judgment as a matter of law on his affirmative 
defense based on the two-year Idaho statute of 
limitations for professional malpractice, Idaho Code 
§ 5-219(4)? 

e. Is Burns subject to personal jurisdiction in 
Washington? Specifically, when an Idaho physician 
improperly clears a student athlete to play football in 
Washington after a concussion, is the physician 
subject to suit in Washington based on violation of the 
Lystedt law? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The football team. 

Puryear, a parent of students at VCS, started an 

interscholastic football program at the school. According to VCS’s 

Athletic Director, “Mr. Puryear was definitely a motivating factor in 

starting the program … along with our administration and board in 

agreement there.”3 According to Puryear himself, he approached 

the school administrator and athletic director at the time and said, 

“Hey, is this something you guys are interested in? If you are, then I 

would be willing to help make this a reality.”4 

Puryear obtained the funds for the football program.5 

According to the former athletic director, “we knew that the school 

                                                           
3 CP 558 (C. Kimberley Depo., at 17:14-18; ellipses added). 
4 CP 624 (J. Puryear Depo., at 104:21-25). 
5 See CP 624 (J. Puryear Depo., at 102:6-103:17). 
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couldn’t afford it … and Mr. Puryear basically offered to fund the 

things because it’s very expensive to run a football program.”6 

Puryear provided funding for the team because “the school didn’t 

have a budget for it whatsoever.”7  

Puryear was head coach of the football team for the duration 

of its existence.8 He “chose not to take a salary to help offset the 

cost for the school.”9 He signed a “Valley Christian School Coaches 

Contract,” also described as an “Employee Contract,” with the job 

title of “Volunteer Football Coach” for the 2007-08 and 2008-09 

school years.10 His performance was reviewed annually.11  

                                                           
6 CP 938 (R. White Depo., at 18:3-8; ellipses added). 
7 CP 938 (R. White Depo., at 18:9-12); accord CP 558 (C. Kimberley Depo., at 
17:21-23). Puryear procured the uniforms and equipment for the football 
program. See CP 938 (R. White Depo., at 18:13-14); CP 558 (C. Kimberley Depo., 
at 17:25-18:1); CP 907 (D. Tabish Depo., at 19:22-20:7). A reasonable estimate of 
the initial cost is between $25,000 and $50,000. See CP 624 (J. Puryear Depo., 
at 103:18-104:3). The bulk of the startup money came from Puryear and his wife, 
and the balance came from his father. See CP 624 (J. Puryear Depo., at 103:5-17). 
Over time, Puryear upgraded the equipment he initially purchased, also at his 
expense. See CP 624 (J. Puryear Depo., at 104:12-17). In addition to equipment, 
he paid for anything else that needed to be done for the football team, from 
printing up playbooks to paying for team meals, referees and emergency 
personnel. See CP 625 (J. Puryear Depo., at 105:22-107:23); CP 908 (D. Tabish 
Depo., at 21:5-7). 
8 See CP 603 (J. Puryear Depo., at 19:20-23); CP 549 (M. Heden Depo., at 41:17-
20); CP 906 & 908 (D. Tabish Depo., at 14:9-14 & 24:16-21). 
9 CP 558 (C. Kimberley Depo., at 17:25-18:1). 
10 See CP 649-54 (J. Puryear Depo., Exs. 3, 4 & 5). Under the contracts, Puryear 
agreed to “perform such duties as are prescribed by the laws of the State of 
Washington and by existing policies, rules and regulations of the School,” among 
other things. CP 649 (2007-08 contract); accord CP 652 (2008-09 contract).  
11 See CP 661-66 (J. Puryear Depo., Exs. 8, 9 & 10). 
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One of Mr. Puryear’s children played on the VCS football 

team.12 Drew Swank also played on the team, as a freshman in 2008 

and as a sophomore for the first two games of 2009 before he died. 

After Drew’s death, Puryear cancelled (or attempted to 

cancel) the football program before the 2010 season, without the 

prior approval of anyone at VCS.13 VCS subsequently agreed with 

the cancellation decision.14 Puryear describes the termination of the 

program in terms of his “withdrawal” as the head coach.15  

B. Concussion and return-to-play policies. 

VCS developed a “Concussion Information Sheet,” which was 

adapted from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) 

and the Third International Conference on Concussion in Sport.16 

According to the Concussion Information Sheet: 

                                                           
12 See CP 907 (D. Tabish Depo., at 19:13-21); CP 549 (M. Heden Depo., at 41:6-8). 
13 See CP 565 (C. Kimberley Depo., at 48:10-18, indicating Puryear “made a 
statement that we weren’t going to continue on”); CP 579 (C. Kimberley Depo., 
Ex. 5, noting that “Jim canceled the season”). 
14 See CP 566 (C. Kimberley Depo., at 49:23-50:3); CP 908 (D. Tabish Depo., at 
22:4-12). 
15 CP 635-36 (J. Puryear Depo., at 148:16-149:6). Now that the football team has 
been disbanded, Puryear stores the equipment at his home, although he claims 
that it belongs to the school. See CP 636 (J. Puryear Depo., at 149:19-150:19). 
Under VCS policy, equipment is supposed to be inventoried and returned to the 
athletic director at the end of the season. See CP 945-46 (R. White Depo., at 48:1-
49:2). 
16 See CP 79-80 (Concussion Information Sheet signed by Drew Swank and his 
mother); see also CP 24 (VCS Mot. & Memo. for Summ. Jdgmt., at 2:16-19, 
indicating the Concussion Information Sheet was developed and distributed 
pursuant to “VCS’s athletic participation policy, and the requirements of RCW 
28A.600.190”).  
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• “A concussion is a brain injury and all brain injuries are 
serious. They are caused by a bump, blow, or jolt to the head, 
or by a blow to another part of the body with the force 
transmitted to the head … all concussions are 
potentially serious and may result in complications 
including prolonged brain damage and death if not 
recognized and managed properly.” CP 79 (emphasis in 
original; ellipses added). 

• Signs of concussion that can be observed by teammates, 
parents and coaches include: “[a]ppears dazed,” “[c]onfused 
about assignment,” “[f]orgets plays,” “[i]s unsure of game, 
score or opponent,” “[m]oves clumsily or displays 
incoordination,” “[s]hows behavior or personality changes,” 
and “[a]ny change in typical behavior or personality.” CP 79 
(brackets added). 

• “Athletes with the signs and symptoms of concussion 
should be removed from play immediately. Continuing to 
play with the signs and symptoms of a concussion leaves the 
young athlete especially vulnerable to greater injury. There is 
an increased risk of significant damage from a concussion for 
a period of time after that concussion occurs, particularly if 
the athlete suffers another concussion before completely 
recovering from the first one. This can lead to prolonged 
recovery, or even to severe brain swelling (second impact 
syndrome) with devastating and even fatal consequences. It 
is well known that adolescent or teenage athlete [sic] will 
often under report symptoms of injuries. And concussions 
are no different. As a result, education of administrators, 
coaches, parents and students is the key for student athlete’s 
safety [sic].” CP 80 (parentheses in original; brackets added). 

• “Any athlete even suspected of suffering a concussion 
should be removed from the game or practice immediately. 
No athlete may return to activity after an apparent head 
injury or concussion, regardless of how mild it seems or how 
quickly symptoms clear, without medical clearance.”  

CP 80. The VCS Concussion Information Sheet refers to “[t]he new 

‘Zackery Lystedt Law’ in Washington [that] now requires the 
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consistent and uniform implementation of long and well-

established return to play concussion guidelines that have been 

recommended for several years[.]” Id. (quotation marks in original; 

brackets added).17 

The VCS Athletics Handbook requires the athletic 

department to give the Concussion Information Sheet to parents 

and students. See CP 94 (internal ¶ 1.4.4). The Athletics Handbook 

further states that “[a]ll suspected head injuries will require 

immediate removal from participation until cleared by WIAA 

approval [sic] medical professional.” CP 97 (internal ¶ 1.5.5(10); 

brackets added). Apart from the Concussion Information Sheet and 

the foregoing provisions of the Athletics Handbook, VCS does not 

have any other written policies relating to concussion. 

 Under these policies, VCS and its football coaches 

acknowledge the duty to monitor players and immediately remove 

them from competition if they show any signs of concussion.18 

Parents do not have responsibility to monitor the players during 

games.19  

                                                           
17 A copy of the Concussion Information Sheet, CP 79-80, is reproduced in the 
Appendix to this brief. 
18 See CP 609, 612-13 & 641 (J. Puryear Depo., at 41:8-43:15, 56:6-57:10 & 172:4-
24); CP 560 (C. Kimberley Depo., at 25:10-26:17); CP 545 (M. Heden Depo., at 
28:14-18); CP 912 (D. Tabish Depo., at 37:5-13). 
19 See CP 546 (M. Heden Depo., at 29:7-10). 
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 Puryear acknowledges that the need for monitoring is 

especially acute in the case of a player who had already suffered a 

prior concussion.20 The fact that a doctor had cleared the player to 

return after a prior concussion would not relieve the coach of this 

duty because it is possible that the doctor missed something.21 

However, VCS players who suffered a concussion were not 

monitored any differently upon their return.22  

 As head coach, Puryear was the person responsible for 

determining whether a player could return to play after a 

concussion.23 He had what appears to be no more than one hour of 

formal training regarding concussion.24 Assistant coaches received 

no formal training while coaching football for the school.25  

 Because the team was “very shorthanded,” Mr. Puryear 

asked his wife and a volunteer nurse to help monitor the players for 

signs of concussion.26 Neither of them had any formal training in 

monitoring for concussion.27  

                                                           
20 See CP 609 & 613 (J. Puryear Depo., at 43:7-9 & 58:18-59:18). 
21 See CP 609 (J. Puryear Depo., at 43:10-15). 
22 See CP 546 & 550 (M. Heden Depo., at 32:18-24 & 45:15-23). 
23 See CP 547 (M. Heden Depo., at 35:8-11). 
24 See CP 68-69 & 687-89 (training records). 
25 See CP 545 (M. Heden Depo., at 25:7-10). 
26 See CP 617 (J. Puryear Depo., at 73:23-76:10); CP 912 (D. Tabish Depo., at 
37:5-13). 
27 See CP 623 (J. Puryear Depo., at 98:23-99:1); CP 713 & 719 (K. Puryear Depo., 
at 8:10-16 & 32:5-7); CP 923 (N. Tiffany Depo., at 24:9-12). 
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VCS did not have any policies regarding gradual return to 

play following concussion.28 However, the Third International 

Conference on Concussion in Sport—a document developed for use 

by coaches, physicians and others, and from which the VCS 

Concussion Information Sheet was adapted—prescribes a gradual 

return to play for athletes suffering from concussion:  

4.1 Graduated return to play protocol 

Return to play protocol following a concussion follows a 
stepwise process …. With this stepwise progression, the 
athlete should continue to proceed to the next level if 
asymptomatic at the current level. Generally each step 
should take 24 hours so that an athlete would take 
approximately one week to proceed through the full 
rehabilitation protocol once they are asymptomatic at rest 
and with provocative exercise. If any post-concussion 
symptoms occur while in the stepwise programme, the 
patient should drop back to the previous asymptomatic level 
and try to progress again after a further 24-hour period of 
rest has passed. 

CP 511 (formatting in original; ellipses added).29  

The first step for gradual return to play following concussion 

consists of complete physical and cognitive rest to allow for 

recovery; the second step consists of light aerobic exercise to 

increase heart rate; the third step consists of sport-specific exercise 

                                                           
28 See CP 546 (M. Heden Depo., at 32:14-17); CP 640-41 (J. Puryear Depo., at 
168:4-12 & 171:19-21); CP 912 (D. Tabish Depo., at 38:14-39:5). 
29 A copy of the Third International Conference on Concussion in Sport, CP 509-
518, is reproduced in the Appendix to this brief. CDC standards, also referenced 
in VCS’s Concussion Information sheet, similarly provide for gradual return to 
play. See CP 519-522. 
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to add movement; the fourth step consists of non-contact training 

drills to provide exercise, coordination and cognitive load; the fifth 

step involves full contact practice; and the final sixth step is a return 

to normal play. See CP 511-12 (Table 1). Generally, each step should 

take a minimum of 24 hours so that an athlete would take at least 

six days to complete the return-to-play process. CP 511. 

Gradual return to play is especially important for children 

and adolescents because they have different physiological response 

and longer recovery after concussion, as well as specific risks 

related to head impact during childhood and adolescence. See 

CP 512-13. 

C. Before the Washtucna game. 

During the first game of the 2009 season against Pateros on 

September 18, 2009, Drew Swank was removed from the game after 

being hit in the head and experiencing neck pain and headaches. 

Before leaving the field, the team’s volunteer nurse told Puryear 

that Drew “took a big hit and she thought it was wise for him to go 

to the doctor.”30 Puryear assumed she meant that Drew was 

suffering signs of concussion.31  

                                                           
30 CP 618 (J. Puryear Depo., at 78:20-79:4). 
31 See CP 618, 620 & 647 (J. Puryear Depo., at 79:23-80:20, 87:24-88:19 & Ex. 1); 
CP 925-26 (N. Tiffany Depo., at 32:23-34:4). 
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 On Monday, September 21, 2009, Drew did not go to school 

or turn out for practice because he was still experiencing 

headaches.32 From Tuesday, September 22, through Thursday, 

September 24, 2009, Drew went to practice, but he did not suit up 

or participate.33 Drew told Mr. Puryear about continued headaches 

at the practice.34 Drew’s father told Mr. Puryear that Drew had been 

diagnosed with a concussion by his doctor, and that that was the 

reason he could not participate.35 Friday, September 25, 2009, was 

the Washtucna game.  

D. Clearance to return to play. 

 During the week before the Washtucna game, on Tuesday, 

September 22, 2009, Drew Swank and his mother went to see 

Burns about his neck pain and headaches. CP 345 (medical 

record).36 Burns diagnosed Drew Swank with a “CLOSED HEAD 

INJURY OF MILD CONCUSSION” suffered while playing football. 

                                                           
32 See CP 109-10 (D. Swank Depo., at 81:1-82:1); CP 618 (J. Puryear Depo., at 
80:21-23). 
33 See CP 619 (J. Puryear Depo., at 81:22-82:3 & 82:23-24). 
34 See id. (internal 82:4-18). 
35 See CP 181 (D. Swank Depo., at 27:5-21); CP 849 (P. Swank Depo., at 41:15-42:1 
& 43:8-12). 
36 A copy of the medical record, CP 345, is reproduced in the Appendix to this 
brief. 
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In the course of the office visit, Burns asked Drew, “where do you go 

to school, and he said Valley Christian.”37  

 Burns’ plan for Drew following the visit was: 

We are going to have the patient take ibuprofen 600 mg p.o. 
t.i.d. for the next few days. I am also going to have him stay 
out of contact sports for the next three days’ period of time. 
If he has a bad headache, after playing football, he is to be 
out of the sport for a week’s period of time. If he has another 
concussion, following that, then I would have him out 
probably for a two-month period of time. 

CP 345. Drew’s mother understood that he could return to play 

after the headaches stopped. CP 193 (P. Swank Depo., at 234:7-12). 

 On Thursday, September 24, 2009, Drew’s headaches 

stopped, so Mrs. Swank called Dr. Burns’ office. At first she spoke 

with the receptionist: “I’m calling for … Drew Swank, and he had a 

concussion and Dr. Burns said he couldn’t — you know, that he got 

during the football game and Dr. Burns said he couldn’t play until 

his headaches were gone and he said his headaches were gone.”38  

 The receptionist transferred Mrs. Swank to Dr. Burns’ 

nurse.39 Mrs. Swank then said to the nurse:

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