RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 12, 2015, 4:31 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

#### COA# 337821-III

No. 90733-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

DONALD R. SWANK, individually and as personal representative of the ESTATE OF ANDREW F. SWANK, and PATRICIA A. SWANK, individually,

Appellants,

V.

VALLEY CHRISTIAN SCHOOL, a Washington State Non-profit corporation, JIM PURYEAR, MIKE HEDEN, and DERICK TABISH, individually, and TIMOTHY F. BURNS M.D., individually,

Respondents

ON APPEAL FROM SPOKANE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Hon. Michael P. Price

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TIMOTHY F. BURNS, M.D.

#### I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is before the Court on review of the trial court's dismissal of Timothy Burns, M.D., of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho, for lack of jurisdiction over of the alleged medical negligence claims arising from his treatment in Idaho of his patient Drew Swank in 2009 when he allegedly knew Mr. Swank was going to Washington. The central issue is whether a Washington court has jurisdiction over such a claim where Dr. Burns treated Mr. Swank in Idaho, he practiced medicine only in Idaho, and the Swank family were (and are) Idaho residents? *Lewis v. Bours*, 119 Wn.2d 667, 835 P.2d 221 (1992), says unanimously, no.

Lewis held that Washington courts do not have jurisdiction over physicians for care given in a foreign state when the patient later asserts the care or treatment caused an injury that manifested in Washington. Lewis is wholly consistent with U.S. Supreme Court decisions from International Shoe v. Washington to the present. Lewis held that an injury from alleged negligent medical care "occurs" where the care is rendered (Oregon), not where the patient asserted the negligence manifested and where the doctor knew the patient was going (Washington); and not even when the patient is a Washington citizen. Rather, under Lewis, the patient must sue the doctor under the law of, and in the state where, the care was given.

This rule applies here with extra force. Not only was Drew Swank treated in *Idaho* by an *Idaho* physician licensed only in

*Idaho*, but he lived in Idaho and was not a Washington resident, as was the *Lewis* patient. Further, even if, *arguendo*, Washington courts could assert jurisdiction over Dr. Burns (which they cannot), only Idaho law will apply to the care rendered by Dr. Burns in Idaho – and Idaho's two-year statute of limitations ran before the complaint was filed. The dismissal was correct.

Appellants' search via discovery for the minimum contacts required by due process to assert specific or general jurisdiction failed. All the even arguably significant contacts were either through Drew Swank or Dr. Burns' employer Ironwood Family Practice, which was not sued. Two unanimous U.S. Supreme Court decisions in 2014 reaffirmed the traditional due process requirement of showing minimum contacts of the *defendant party* with the forum state. They re-emphasized that the central concern of due process limits on a state's jurisdictional reach is to protect the non-resident defendant's liberty, not to protect the convenience of the plaintiff or third parties. Thus, a *plaintiff/patient's* association with the forum, as a matter of law, is inadequate to impose specific or general jurisdiction on the defendant, here Dr. Burns. Just because Drew Swank went to school in Washington is insufficient to subject Dr. Burns to Washington's jurisdiction. Similarly, the contacts of a *non-party*, here Dr. Burns' employer Ironwood Family Practice, cannot be a proper basis to assert jurisdiction over the named defendant, even if they satisfied due process, which they do not.

Finally, there is no medical standard of care issue before the Court, despite Appellants' valiant effort to raise it on the topical and important issue of concussion prevention in sports. Dr. Burns' counsel immediately addressed the jurisdictional issue with Appellants' counsel, who wanted discovery to establish jurisdiction. In order to bring a motion to dismiss without the interruption of a CR 56(f) continuance, discovery as to Dr. Burns was limited to jurisdictional facts. See CP 250. Discovery and the motion before the trial court thus did not address what the standard of care is or ought to be, nor whether Dr. Burns breached any such standard. Despite Appellants' understandable efforts to inject a standard in their summary judgment documents and raise it as an issue at this late date, that issue was not developed in discovery. Nor was it the subject of the summary judgment, which focused on jurisdiction, choice of law, and the Idaho statute of limitations. That issue is not only irrelevant to the issues in this appeal, it is not properly reached on this undeveloped record. Moreover, Appellants' own written materials, submitted in their effort to raise the issue, explicitly refused to establish a standard of care. Instead, the "consensus document" itself states it "is not intended as a standard of care, and should not be interpreted as such." CP 514 (emphasis added). That issue must await a proper case.

#### II. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Must the dismissal of Dr. Burns be affirmed because, under *Lewis v. Bours* and applicable federal constitutional law, Washington courts have no jurisdiction over Dr. Burns for a medical negligence claim arising out medical care he provided to Drew Swank in Idaho, particularly where Dr. Burns practices medicine only in Idaho and has only an Idaho medical license?
- 2. Even assuming Washington jurisdiction over Dr. Burns (which does not exist), was dismissal still required because the Lystedt Act does not create independent liability for medical negligence outside of Ch. 7.70 RCW and, under *Lewis v. Bours* and settled Washington law construing those statutes, any medical negligence claim is subject to Idaho law, whose two-year statute of limitations ran prior to Appellants filing their complaint?

#### III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Facts.

1. Dr. Burns has practiced medicine exclusively in Idaho since 1993 and has no Washington license.

When Dr. Timothy Burns completed his medical residency 25 years ago in 1989, he chose to locate his family medical practice in Coeur d'Alene Idaho. CP 252- 53 (Burns Dep.). He opened his medical practice at Ironwood Family Practice and last provided health care in Washington State in 1993, over 20 years ago. CP 258-259. He let his Washington license lapse in 2003. CP 253. He only sees patients at Ironwood Family Practice in Coeur d'Alene, Idaho. CP 285 ("I don't treat any patients in the state of Washington." Burns Dep., 39:2-3). His patients come to him because they live in Coeur d'Alene, work there or used to work there, and in any event want to see Dr. Burns for their primary care even if they now live elsewhere, including in Washington State. CP 286-287. Out of his approximately 2400 patients, all of whom he sees in Idaho, the portion who happen to reside in Washington is less than *de minimis* and are not solicited there.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Of Dr. Burns' approximately 2400 patients, perhaps 1-3% are Washington residents. CP 341-344 (Interrogatory Response no. 7); CP 286 (Burns Dep., 40:11-19). Neither Dr. Burns nor Ironwood Family practice solicits patients from Washington. CP 286-287 (Burns Dep., 40:23-41:4); CP 325-326 (Burns Dep., 79:24-80:2).

## 2. Dr. Burns' long history of caring for the Swanks exclusively in Idaho.

Dr. Burns first met the Swanks in Coeur d'Alene, Idaho in 1990, shortly after he joined Ironwood. CP 1-2; 369. Drew's father Don testified that the Swanks, who then and now live in Idaho, had by 1990 already been long-time patients at Ironwood before Dr. Burns joined it. CP 369 (D. Swank Dep. 111). Dr. Burns provided primary care for Drew Swank from the time of his birth in 1992, always at Ironwood. CP 223. Drew's mother Patricia testified that the Swanks were self-insured (CP 890, P. Swank Dep. 205:11-14), and thus they never were covered by any of the health insurance carriers that otherwise contracted with Ironwood.<sup>2</sup>

#### 3. Dr. Burns practiced medicine only in Idaho in 2009.

The Appellants' allegations as to Dr. Burns related to Drew Swank's untimely death all occurred in 2009. *See* Amended Complaint, CP 3-5. Dr. Burns never saw Drew Swank anywhere but in Idaho (including in 2009) and practiced medicine only in Idaho. CP 331; 286. As noted, he last saw patients in Washington State in 1993, 16 years before the events at issue. CP 258-259 (Burns Dep. 12:23-13:5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This makes all of Appellants' allegations as to Dr. Burns' clinic's health insurance contracts irrelevant for any purpose, including under the long arm statute, as discussed *infra*, §D.2.b.

4. Dr. Burns examined Drew and advised that he not play football until his symptoms, which were self-reported, ceased, then cleared him to play when informed they had stopped.

On September 18, 2009, while playing in a high school football game, Drew had an injury to his head region. CP 380. He was not instructed by his school or coaching staff to be examined by any specific health care professional retained by or acting for the school. On September 22, Drew was still suffering from severe headaches from the game and went to see his long-time Idaho family physician Dr. Burns, who examined Drew. CP 3 ¶ 2.3 (amended complaint). Dr. Burns advised Drew and his mother that he was not to resume participation in football until his symptoms resolved. *Id.*; CP 374 (P. Swank Dep.). These symptoms were, necessarily, self-reported by Drew. *See* CP 373-374 (description of symptoms).

Drew's mother Patricia Swank testified that on September 24, she reported to Dr. Burns' office staff that Drew was no longer suffering headache symptoms and she then requested that Dr. Burns provide a written authorization so that Drew could return to play. CP 376 (P. Swank Dep. 52: 8-11). CP 3 ¶ 2.5. Dr. Burns later gave a written note clearing Drew to participate in football as of September 25, 2009, which he left to be picked up at his office. CP 320-321 (Burns Dep. 74:19-75:1). Mrs. Swank picked up the note and gave it to Mr. Swank who delivered it to the school's coach. CP 174 (Don Swank Dep., 94:6-22).

On September 25, 2009, Drew resumed playing football for Valley Christian School in a Friday night football game in Washtucna, Washington. CP 4. During the game, Drew was hit by another player, staggered off the field, and collapsed. CP 4. He was taken to the hospital in Ritzville, and later airlifted to Sacred Heart Medical Center in Spokane, where he died two days later. CP 4.

#### **B.** Procedural History.

1. The belated, time-barred Idaho suit against Dr. Burns and Ironwood Family Practice.

On July 20, 2012 Appellants initiated Idaho's pre-litigation screening process necessary to bring a medical malpractice action in Idaho against both Dr. Burns and Ironwood Family Practice. CP 399, 377-83 (letter and application for medical malpractice prelitigation hearing before Idaho Board of Medicine). By letter of July 26, 2012, the Chair of the Board's Medical Malpractice Screening Committee informed the Swanks' counsel that Idaho's two-year statute of limitations for such actions had run so that the Board was "declining to consider" their application, which is a prerequisite for a medical negligence lawsuit. CP 398. An exchange of letters clarified that, while the statute had run as to the Appellants (the estate and Donald and Patricia Swank), it was tolled as to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the prelitigation hearing process is a prerequisite to bringing a medical negligence suit in Idaho, its proceedings are nevertheless "informal and nonbinding." *See* CP 393 (copy of Idaho Code §6-1001).

potential claims on behalf of Drew Swank's minor siblings, so that the Swank's request for a hearing on behalf of the siblings was honored and held on September 28, 2012. *See* CP 397, 400.

On October 12, 2012, the Panel issued its post-hearing report. CP 384-387. The report states Drew Swank reported daily headaches on the September 22, 2009 exam, but not other abnormalities. CP 385.<sup>4</sup> It states Dr. Burns "performed a thorough evaluation of Mr. Swank," sets out the normal findings with only one area of mild muscular tenderness, and related that Dr. Burns "directed Andrew to stay out of contact sports for the next three days." *Id.* It states that, after Drew's mother Patricia Swank called "requesting that a release be signed because Andrew had a game the next day, on September 25," that Dr. Burns gave the release "believing that the headache symptoms had resolved." CP 386.

The Panel considered the standard of care that existed in September 2009 in the Coeur d'Alene area as required under Idaho law,<sup>5</sup> specifically noting that "[t]he post concussion treatment Standard of Care is a rapidly evolving Standard and is substantially different [in] 2012 than existed in 2009." CP 386. It ultimately concluded:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Panel report states that Drew reported daily headaches "but reported no visual abnormalities, no nausea, no vomiting, or any neurological losses." CP 385.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See CP 394 (copy of Idaho Code §6-1012).

Releasing Andrew Swank to play football without a subsequent follow up was consistent with the information that Dr. Burns had indicating no other post concussion symptoms were demonstrated and is consistent with the Standard of Care that existed in 2009.

CP 387. The panel concluded that the claimants "failed to meet their burden by a preponderance of the evidence" to demonstrate Dr. Burns violated the standard of care in September 2009. *Id.* The Panel report thus ultimately concluded that "the claims against Dr. Burns are without merit." *Id.* 

#### 2. Commencement of the Washington litigation.

Six weeks after learning their Idaho claims against Dr. Burns and Ironwood were barred, Appellants filed this lawsuit in Washington against Dr. Burns<sup>6</sup> and the other respondents, filing on September 21, 2012, just days before the three-year Washington statute of limitations ran and naming Dr. Burns but not Ironwood. CP 32. The Amended Complaint was filed four days later. CP 1.

Appellants engaged in discovery as to Dr. Burns which, though limited to their effort to establish jurisdiction over him as opposed to exploring any alleged negligence, was nevertheless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Swanks did not sue Ironwood Family Practice in Washington. CP 1. Nor did they name Dr. Burns in his capacity as an employee of Ironwood. *See* CP 2, Amended Complaint ¶1.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See CP 250:4-13 (Burns Dep. 4:4-13).

MR. BRUYA: Before we start, I just want to put on the record that we are having a deposition today for Dr. Burns on jurisdictional issues only. Mark Kamitomo and I have agreed to these terms pending [an] upcoming summary judgment motion on jurisdictional issues. And then following that, depending (Footnote continued next page)

extensive, taking over a year. *See, e.g.*, CP 1011-1014, CP 1018-1019. Once Appellants' efforts were completed so there would be no need for a CR 56(f) continuance (*see, e.g.*, CP 250), Dr. Burns moved to dismiss all claims against him on three grounds: 1) that Appellants could not establish personal jurisdiction over him in Washington; 2) that Appellants could state no claim against Dr. Burns under the Lystedt Act because any cause of action under that Act was preempted by Washington's medical negligence statutes; and 3) that because a medical negligence claim was the only potential claim against Dr. Burns, it had to be brought pursuant to Idaho law and, since under Idaho law the statute of limitations had long since passed, dismissal was required. CP 222-243.

Appellants responded with arguments that Dr. Burns' authorization in Idaho for Drew Swank to return to play high school football was sufficient to establish jurisdiction because the school was in Washington, that the Lystedt Act contained an implied statutory cause of action, and that the cause of action was not preempted by the medical negligence statute because it was applicable to coaches and other school personnel as well as

on the court's rulings, plaintiffs will be allowed to take the remainder of Dr. Burns' deposition, related to the care and treatment or Andrew Swank.

Is that correct, Counsel?

Mr. Kamitomo: Agreed.

*Accord*, CP 284: 5-12 (Burns Dep. 38:5-12) (Dr. Burns' counsel objecting to questions related to Dr. Burns' competence: "We are getting a little bit beyond the scope of jurisdiction.").

healthcare providers. CP 969-993 (Plaintiffs' SJ Response to Burns' MSJ).

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